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ABSTRACT 

The article explores the method of deriving historical values from the history of an object and place, 
in connection with people important to the object or place. This is a detailed analysis of the practi-
cal process of translating an integrated historical narrative used to recreate important components 
or carriers of historical values, based on the case of two semi-detached villas in PoznaŒ's Soğacz 
district. The HeV method used in this case illustrates how to qualify individual historical factors that 
may be of great importance in themselves, but of little importance in relation to architecture. 

Key words: assessment of historic values, garden city, HeV method, history of Soğacz, interwar ar-
chitecture of the 20th century. 

STRESZCZENIE 

Artykuğ eksploruje spos·b wywodzenia wartoŜci historycznych z historii obiektu i miejsca, w powiŃ-
zaniu z osobami waŨnymi dla obiektu lub miejsca. Jest to dokğadna analiza praktycznego, opartego 
na kazusie dw·ch bliŦniaczych willi na poznaŒskim Soğaczu, procesu translacji zintegrowanej nar-
racji historycznej sğuŨŃcej do odtworzenia istotnych komponent·w lub noŜnik·w wartoŜci historycz-
nych. Metoda HeV zastosowana w tym przypadku ilustruje, w jaki spos·b kwalifikowane sŃ po-
szczeg·lne czynniki historyczne, kt·re same w sobie mogŃ mieĺ duŨe znaczenie, jednak niewielkie 
w odniesieniu do architektury. 

Sğowa kluczowe: architektura miňdzywojenna XX wieku, historia Soğacza, metoda HeV, miasto-
ogr·d, ocena wartoŜci zabytkowych. 

http://doi.org/10.21005/pif.2023.56.E-01
http://pif.zut.edu.pl/pif56-2023/


438 s p a c e     &     FORM    |    p r z e s t r z e ŗ     i     FORMa    ô56_2023 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

Each method should be developed with application in mind and implementation in real conditions. 
The process of clashing theoretical and methodological assumptions with the real limitations of 
data, information, sources, and the limits of the cognitive sphere. The scientific method matures 
through repeated iterations of its application in subsequent, diverse cases, which are qualified as 
cases that can be processed within the method. Conservation assessment of historic values also 
offers such a situation.  

Assessment of the value of historic architectural structures, and in Polish legislation of historical, 
artistic and scientific values, is a process expressing a certain limit state. Theoretically, when the 
assessment is made in the most basic procedure, the examined object is only a potential monu-
ment, candidate for this name. The preliminary, cursory and insufficient evaluation, intended to 
initiate the process of full qualification, only suggests the possibility of obtaining the status of 
a monument. The correct attitude of the evaluator must assume every possible result, from the 
negation of the status, through the inclusion of selected elements of the object considered to be 
able to function independently of the whole, through the inclusion of the part requiring (or requiring) 
functioning with the whole, ending with the classification of the entire object as a monument. No 
solution should be viewed as more likely until it emerges from the evidence. This assumption is, in 
practice, utopia. An evaluator, especially one who deprives himself of the option of acting within 
a methodologically structured procedure, often substitutes his own prejudices and preliminary con-
clusions for the correct assessment. Very often, an ex-post assessment of a monument is also 
carried out to check whether the object meets the criteria, even though a hasty, but perhaps moti-
vated by practical reasons, decision has already been made to include the object in a protected 
resource. Then the assessment has the character of a judgment not only on the object but also on 
the verdict made and questioning the historic status. 

However, the ability to assess historic values applies not only to conservation assessment, but also 
to the assessment carried out by designers whose task is to deal with the historic substance. Nich-
olas Clarke, Marieke Kuipers and Sara Stroux, among others, write about the importance of this 
process, demonstrating how much familiarization with the problems of conservation of architectural 
heritage, with the matrix of historic values, makes young architecture students aware of the issues 
and importance of the continuum in space, respecting what the past has developed (Clarke et al. 
2020: 878-879). Clarke and Kuipers developed the Heritage Value Matrix for didactics, provoking 
the connection of the material elements of heritage (except for the genius loci, in the original spirit 
of place), thus developing the ideas of Steward Brand (Brand 1994) with the surroundings, interior 
and spiritual component, while in the sphere of heritage protection, referring to the classic values of 
Alois Riegel (Clarke and Kuipers 2017: 211-213). Not only student curricula use the assessment of 
historic value, but also designers dealing with historically important places in which the heritage 
component plays a central, strategic role in restoring the vitality of places. This is convincingly 
demonstrated by Teresa BardziŒska-Bonenberg, Agata Bonenberg and Tomasz Wagner, also 
referring to Brand's theory, this time expanding it with a temporal perspective. Awareness of the 
passage of time, the durability of individual components of architecture that deteriorate in various 
ways, the selection of permanent and impermanent elements in relation to their value allows for the 
determination of accurate formal hierarchies for historic buildings undergoing transformation (Bar-
dziŒska-Bonenberg et al. 2022: 16-17). A similar, although not identical, way of recognizing the 
content of heritage can be found in Adriana Szubryt, who examines, among other things, the use-
fulness of lighthouses in the resource (Szubryt 2022: 108-110). 

There is also a tendency to expand the circle of addressees of the discourse on the heritage of the 
past and its protection. As Dan Chen writes, it is necessary to introduce people from outside the 
discipline to the knowledge and nuances of monument conservation. This is a doctrinal require-
ment that is too often overlooked and ignored. Research conducted by Chen indicates the im-
portance of the relationship between society and heritage - from the synthesis of the study of the 
perception of historic values among communities, a picture emerges predicted by the doctrine, in 
which an increase in understanding of the problems of heritage protection and, at the same time, 



ROBERT K. BAREĞKOWSKI 439 

 

understanding the justification for classifying objects and places as historic, it increases interest 
and makes the effort to preserve relics of the past more effective (cf. Chen 2023: 14).  

The topic of this work is the practical implementation of the historic value assessment model in-
cluded in the proprietary HeV method (Bareğkowski 2017: 11-12). Due to the attempt to explain the 
complex process in which there are three basic groups of values indicated in the Act, i.e. historical, 
artistic and scientific, the first group selected for presentation are historical values. Programmatical-
ly, this work is related to the article that introduced the theoretical and methodological formula for 
determining historical values (Bareğkowski 2023: 22-24). Therefore, a more extensive theoretical 
background is not presented here, so as not to duplicate the information provided. Instead, it is 
suggested to combine the content of both studies so that the material presented here illustrates in 
detail the application of historical value assessment. 

2. METHODS AND MATERIALS 

The presentation of the valorization process in terms of historical values in the HeV method is 
based on various research procedures carried out in parallel. Architectural objects are complex 
artifacts, used by various people, accompanying communities in various historical circumstances, 
some of which are trivial and not worth immortalizing, while others, on the contrary, are very im-
portant for local or national identity, culture and society.  

In the analysis of historical values, a narrative analogy is built, referring to interpretive and historical 
research. It is not a narrative reconstructing gaps in knowledge, but a narrative combining various 
information for the purpose of clarifying the importance of fragments of the past, both material and 
immaterial, the absorption of which by the architectural substance may make it valuable from the 
point of view of such an evaluation profile. Conventionally, the HeV method calls this multi-threaded 
procedure narrative building, especially in the first, most time-consuming step of collecting and 
sorting information and constructing a coherent image of historical factors initiating architecture, 
influencing it or giving it new meanings.  

The evaluative nature of the procedure combined with unmeasurable or ambiguously measurable 
components being assessed also means that qualitative research is used in all steps - the assess-
ment takes place within the framework of the normative assessment system established for the 
method. Two scales are adopted here - a numerical scale in which negative numbers demonstrate 
destruction, erosion of substances or values, lack of significance, while positive numbers recom-
mend recognizing the importance of the examined object; as well as the natural scale, convention-
ally defining a neutral state (no marking) and increasing importance - low, medium and high 
(marked with a different number of pluses).  

The methodological aspect of the procedure is represented by detailed evaluation steps, most of-
ten presented in tabular form to facilitate tracking the progression of individual evaluation activities. 
The reference here is the diagram and matrix contained in the theoretical introduction, which is 
a separate work (Bareğkowski 2023: 23-24). 

The application requires the selection of some example that will not offer extreme and clear a priori 
verdicts. Therefore, the subject of the described study is not, for example, the church of St. Andrew 
in Krakow or the ZamoŜĺ town hall, but two modest but interesting villas in PoznaŒ's Soğacz. These 
are villas no. 4 and no. 5 located at Litewska Street, right next to Soğacki Park. Of necessity, villas 
included in the Municipal Register of Monuments (GEZ) and protected under the local development 
plan adopted in 2021 are assessed. This "inconvenience", which slightly disturbs the purity of the 
evaluation carried out, is eliminated by the fact that there is an almost complete lack of archival 
materials in the resources of the Municipal Conservator of Monuments in PoznaŒ (result of the 
conducted query), and only modest resources of documents obtained from the Information Center 
on Urban Space of the Department of Urban Planning and Architecture of the PoznaŒ City Hall can 
be Therefore, it can be concluded that the previous conservation decisions regarding the protection 
of both villas and their inclusion in the GEZ were relatively superficial and insufficiently supported 
by arguments, which does not mean that they were wrong. It is also an opportunity to investigate 
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whether a modest object (in this case two objects) can be a carrier of significant historical values 
related to people, achievements or occurrences.  

The process of reading historical values consists of four steps and is divided into four threads, to-
gether creating an initial procedural matrix. The following topics are highlighted: 

ï people - this thread is about the influence of people on the shaping of space, its development, 
on the architectural object and its surroundings; what is interesting is primarily those human 
activities that ultimately saturate architecture with information about the past, preferably infor-
mation that can be read by future generations,  

ï representation - in this thread the point is that the creation of architecture or activity in its envi-
ronment was accompanied by a program element, the desire - not only expressed, but also 
supported by action (creative activities) - to present an idea, thought, concept, worldview, in 
architectural space ( or urban planning),  

ï achievements - these are intentional actions, not necessarily aimed at creating architecture or 
transforming space, but leaving their mark; the key determinant of achievements are traceable 
and extractable human intentions and actions consistent with these intentions,  

ï occurrences - these are unintentional events or interactions of people with each other and 
with the architectural space, giving rise to specific effects for it and potentially leaving their 
mark, which can also be read. 

The above-mentioned threads accompany the evaluation procedure until it is determined in which 
elements of the architectural structure historical values may be manifested. Within each thread, 
a narrative is built, and then the elements that stand out, are outstanding or even above-average 
are extracted from it.  

Differently, the steps in the procedure are sequential, i.e. after building the narrative, one proceeds 
to diagnosing spatial relations, then to verifying the absorption capacity of architectural matter, i.e. 
the effectiveness of absorbing and storing traces of the past by architecture, and finally, the poten-
tial of expressing these traces is examined, if will be considered significant in the facility being as-
sessed. It should be noted that monuments have distinctive, unique values, not necessarily 
groundbreaking, but always offering information about history that can be called valuable. The 
structure of the matrix revealing the first part of the evaluation is shown in table 1 (see table 2; 
Bareğkowski 2023: 23). 

 
Table 1. A simplified matrix of evaluation steps for determining historical values in an architectural object. Source: author. 

Narration 

(historical or reconstruct-
ed according to the rigors 
of the discipline) 

Spatial relations Absorption Manifestation 

People deposit ï human compo-
nent 

status: carrier (media) object: carrier (media) 

Representation (shape of an 
object or a place) 

<automatic transition to 
the next step> 

status: conveyor object: conveyor 

Achievements deposit ï intended mate-
rial component 

status: document object: document 

Occurrences deposit ï unintentional 
material component 

status: witness / testi-
mony 

object: witness / testimo-
ny 

 

In the final phase of searching for historical values recorded in an architectural object, an adapted 
matrix of historic values is used, modified due to the adopted value system. This matrix (trans-
formed HVM by Clarke, Kuipers and Zijlstra) uses a nine-component image of the architectural 
structure according to the extended Brand model, as well as Bareğkowski's system of historic val-
ues. The structure of this activity is presented by the second matrix - conventionally called the BB 
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matrix, which performs the final verification and qualification of historical values of sufficient im-
portance from the point of view of assigning historic status (see table 3; Bareğkowski 2012: 45-46). 

3. EXEMPLIFICATION OF THE MODEL. THE CASE OF TWO VILLAS IN SOĞACZ IN POZNAő 

The topic of two villas in PoznaŒ, located at ul. Litewska 4 and 5, in the Soğacz district. A narrative 
will be presented simulating the evaluation of historical values for both objects simultaneously. This 
is related to both the genesis of both villas and the initiator of their construction, and above all, to 
the identical, originally almost identical architectural form. The location in one of the most important 
districts of PoznaŒ in terms of urban heritage, in Soğacz - a complex of low-intensity buildings im-
mersed in greenery, is also important because this aspect of heritage protection (urban planning) 
seems to be stronger than the architectural one, as the villas did not represent a particularly so-
phisticated architecture of the interwar period. 

3.1. Narration 

The first step in the procedure of determining historical values is to build a narrative. Building 
a narrative is a characteristic feature of historical research, and since the purpose of exploratory 
activity is to establish historical values, using similar methods of achieving results seems justified. 
The point here is to allow historical sources with varying degrees of reliability - documents, event 
registers, but also people's accounts, memories, indirect data - to create one, as far as possible, 
coherent image of both the researched space and the events and interactions that took place, 
sometimes even before the time "zero", until the present day. The essence is to avoid the other-
wise permissible patching of areas that do not emerge from the evidence as an unacceptable for-
mula for justifying an valorization verdict (cf. Groat and Wang 2013: 175). 

Relationships with the environment (urban aspect) 

Due to the subject of the assessment, preceded by analyses, the urban theme will not be fully de-
veloped here, but only sketched as a background necessary to achieve the objectives set in the 
study. This means that certain information will be presented briefly. For example, the topic of the 
transformation of the ownership structure will not be developed, i.e. the acquisition of the Soğacki 
estate previously belonging to Izydor Kantorowicz by Adolf Schwarzkopf, the superpresident of the 
PoznaŒ Province, before the end of the 19th century, in 1893 (Jakubowska 1999: 70-71). Schwarz-
kopf retained the manor, but handed over the parceled-out property partly to the Prussian Coloni-
zation Commission and partly to Baruch Elias, which most likely took place before 1896 (cf. Czar-
necki 1999: 98). It is impossible to be sure as to the motivation behind this change in land owner-
ship, but the most probable explanation is that Elias took over his part of the estate's properties as 
repayment of a debt incurred by Schwarzkopf's branches and impossible to repay in cash (Kraw-
czyk 2021) . Elias's initiative initiated the formation of a spatial solution, which is the first large, 
planned villa development in Poland, reflecting the trends in shaping villa districts surrounded by 
greenery. 

The desire to make the business of building a housing estate in Soğacz profitable prompted Elias to 
employ, although after a few years, in 1903, the design team of brothers Patritz and Anton Huber 
from Darmstadt. They proposed a triangular-shaped area in which a relatively regular network of 
streets, along which villas would be built, was connected by the creation of an open space, 
a strongly elongated square turning into an oval, composed square on the southern edge (Jaku-
bowska 1999: 72). Although architects had interesting proposals for shaping the forms of individual 
buildings, this plan was not approved by the authorities. The negotiations led to an agreement be-
tween the parties, first on the preparation of the estate design by a team led by Hermann Joseph 
St¿bben, affiliated with the Royal Commission for Urban Development of the City of PoznaŒ. The 
design works, completed in 1906, presented orderly, but quite freely run lines of streets, subordi-
nated to the central, green axis marked by ponds, the Bogdanka stream and the intended function-
ing of the greenery as a keystone, recreational space and a kind of support for the growth of the 
abundant tree stand present here in the north and south directions. Thanks to this urban concept, 
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St¿bben transformed his planning concepts into the practice of using space, referring to Camillo 
Sitte's idea of picturesque space, but also representing the theoretical views of the author himself 
(Jakubowska 1999: 89-90). The project and the agreement between the owner, stakeholders and 
the city were signed in 1907, in the same year the appropriate ministerial approvals were received, 
and in 1908 the city took over the land, but planning works could not be quickly transformed into 
implementation due to the complicated geodetic structure. (Jakubowska 1999: 75-77).  

The backbone of St¿bben's foundation was today's Aleja Wielkopolska, connecting the center of 
PoznaŒ with a residential district approximately 2 km away. An additional green axis was also cre-
ated by Bogdanka, which was poured out here and there in St¿bben's design to create an interest-
ing park with ponds. North of the green spine there were at least three rows of building blocks, and 
in the central part there were even five blocks. South of this axis, two rows of building blocks are 
planned. The above-mentioned problems made it difficult to start the development of the estate in 
the areas closest to the center of PoznaŒ. Therefore, buildings were developed in the vicinity of 
today's WoğyŒska, Mazowiecka and Podolska streets. In the meantime, in the years 1908-1912, 
a park was planned and developed - this process was led at an early stage by Hermann Kube (Ka-
rolczak 1993: 65). 

 

 
Fig. 1. Fragment of PoznaŒ plan from 1911, including Soğacz district: ¦bersichts Plan der Residenzstadt Posen, survey plan 
of PoznaŒ, the capital of the province, source: National Archives in PoznaŒ. 

Ryc. 1. Fragment planu Poznania z 1911 roku obejmujŃcy dzielnicň Soğacz: ¦bersichts Plan der Residenzstadt Posen, plan 
przeglŃdowy Poznania, stolicy prowincji, Ŧr·dğo: Archiwum PaŒstwowe w Poznaniu. 

 

 
The property that is the subject of this study is located at ul. Litewska 5 did not exist in this early 
phase of Soğacz's development. Moreover, although buildings developed along Aleja Wielkopolska 
on its southern side, it was a slow and modest development compared to the scale predicted by 
St¿bben. In the census of residents (Wiesioğowski 1999: 109), as well as in the photos from 1915 
(Jakubowska 1999: 76) and 1917 (Karolczak 1993: 96), there is no Litewska, nor a single building 
that would constitute the southern frontage of the street, initiating the development of this part of 
Soğacz.  

The entire Soğacz complex was developing more and more dynamically, filling with three-story 
buildings - two stories formed the main structure, and the third - the attic - completed the architec-
tural composition of individual residential buildings. Although this type of architecture can be found 
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in other areas of PoznaŒ, it is characteristic of Soğacz. The original design solutions, already visible 
in all their glory in the years 1911-1915, still had rustic features of typology, form and details (Jaku-
bowska 1999: 79-83). Later, gradually, this detail, which had inherent German features, also typical 
in Greater Poland, but not particularly attractive when independence was regained, disappeared in 
favor of the more urban appearance of residential houses. This trend was visible both in the intro-
duced cooperative construction and in individual villas that can be seen in photographs from the 
1920s and 1930s.  

Although the period after World War I slowed down the implementation of the project, both the 
Polish authorities and designers considered St¿bben's ideas to be relevant, valuable and worthy of 
continuation (Jakubowska 1999: 91-92). Little was changed in the program assumptions, but the 
socio-economic reality forced the correction of both development directions and encouraged the 
introduction of diversification in the forms of development, increasing the number of multi-unit build-
ings. The addressees of cooperative construction were the slightly less wealthy middle class, 
which, combined with the slightly better-off users of single-family houses, created a unique local 
identity, the image of the district and its reputation. 

Until 1933, the buildings at ul. Litewska Street has still not been initiated. This is confirmed by the 
list of users of the property in Soğacz, because in the documents of the PoznaŒ administration it is 
noted that no resident is listed and the street is "undeveloped" (Wiesioğowski 1999: 109). The de-
velopment began in the last years before the outbreak of World War II (Jakubowska 1999: 92). 
Only then did villas begin to be built on Litewska Street, representing the already established style 
of a classicizing building, simplified but rejecting Germanic styling (Jakubowska 1999: 95). Despite 
the late start, the street buildings filled definitely more than half of the frontage. The designed build-
ings had rather compact shapes and only characteristic hipped roofs, they were sparse in detail, 
simple in structure (plinth - main volume - roof), and quite homogeneous in typology. This, of 
course, did not mean complete unification. For example, although the buildings at No. 4 and No. 5 
were almost identical (still differing in small details), the building at No. 11, designed by Stefan 
Sawicki, was (and still is) distinguished by the most characteristic entrance framing - a two-column 
portal of great order , with two Corinthian columns, a massive architrave, a frieze and a cornice, 
and a strongly marked tympanum starting at the height of the building's peripheral cornice and 
ending halfway up the roof. Some buildings, such as the examined building No. 5, but also No. 2, 
No. 3, No. 4, No. 7, No. 9, No. 10 and No. 19, had a planned entrance from the side, other build-
ings such as No. 6, No. 8, No. 11, No. 12, No. 13, No. 16 or the former house of Anna and Eu-
geniusz Paukszta at No. 17, had an entrance from the front in the central axis of the building (cf. 
Paukszta 1999: 303). Still other, twin (although mirror images) moved the front entrances beyond 
the central axis - no. 14 and no. 15. Consequently, although the facades were diverse, because 
some had to propose an asymmetrical arrangement, while others preferred symmetry, both the 
shapes, their scale and height eaves and roof height were so similar that the layout of the street 
still creates a stylistically and dimensionally coherent border of the green interior of Soğacz. 

After 1945, the foundation of Soğacz was already largely developed. It had a significant volume 
filling that gave character. If buildings did not develop in some quarters, at least a road system had 
already been formed, determining both the proportional allocation of plots and the buildings placed 
on them. In this matter, the area of Soğacz located west of Nad Wierzbakiem Street, between 
ul. Grudzieniec and ul. Litewska, was an exception. Here, the unfavorable physiographic layout and 
ground depressions that were not leveled resulted in additional difficulties in implementing the 
planning vision. It was not possible to saturate this area with investments, and the incoming 
groundwater and related technical problems with proper insulation of the lower floors, moisture 
penetration, periodic flooding of these areas, and even the overflow of the Rusağka pond onto 
Litewska Street and surrounding properties, slowed down the most determined investors. . There-
fore, it was not possible to take advantage of the excellent location next to the most important, cen-
tral site - a pond with a picturesque, artificially formed peninsula and a restaurant located on it, 
present here since 1912 (Karolczak 1993: 66-67).  

The promotion of mediocrity and vulgarity instead of simplicity, as well as the creation of socio-
economic relations in which citizens experienced a permanent deficit of goods, led to the replace-
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ment of the classicizing style, tolerated in some places in the Polish People's Republic (e.g. in 
Warsaw - as an antithesis to the bourgeois structure of śr·dmieŜcie), in PoznaŒ however, consid-
ered as relics of corruption and ideological dissidence, led to the acceptance of the invasion of 
"cube houses", the characteristic Gomuğka architecture of the proletariat and peasantry, no matter 
where they were located. Such forms appeared as filling structures, mainly in the southern part of 
Soğacz, between the green axis and the railway line running on a high embankment. Building com-
position of the street. Litewska, led along a characteristic curve that is not a section of an arc, has 
not been blurred, as documented by photos from 1968, but earlier aerial photos from 1960-1964 
show typical houses scattered here and there, impersonal and unfamiliar in this environment. This 
development stopped the already ineffective process of forming quarters between Litewska and 
Grudzieniec streets. Similar intrusions also appeared on the eastern side of Nad Wierzbakiem 
Street, but also in the northern areas of Soğacz, disfiguring and probably irreversibly damaging the 
estate and its image. 

 
 

  

Fig. 2. The photo of the central part of Soğacki Park, 
Litewska street seen at the left, 1960-1964 (source: 
CYRYL). 

Ryc. 2. Zdjňcie centralnej czňŜci Parku Soğackiego z ul. 
LitewskŃ, 1960-1964 (Ŧr·dğo CYRYL). 

Fig. 3. The photo of the central part of Soğacki Park, Litewska 
street seen at the left, 1960-1964 (source: CYRYL). 

Ryc. 3. Zdjňcie centralnej czňŜci Parku Soğackiego z ul. 
LitewskŃ, 1960-1964 (Ŧr·dğo CYRYL). 

 
 

  

Fig. 4. The photo of Litewska street exposing the character 
of villas at the end of 1960s, 1968 (source: CYRYL). 

Fig. 4. Zdjňcie ul. Litewskiej ukazujŃce charakter zabudowy 
w koŒcu lat 60., 1968 (Ŧr·dğo Fotopolska.eu). 

Fig. 5. The photo of the corner of Litewska street and Nad 
Wierzbakiem, 1968 (source: Fotopolska.eu). 

Fig. 5. Zdjňcie naroŨnika ul. Litewskiej przy ul. Nad Wierzba-
kiem, 1968 (Ŧr·dğo Fotopolska.eu). 

 
In addition to these losses, there were other effects of an economy of perpetual scarcity. It turned 
out to be impossible to complete the development of the surroundings of Bogdanka, which in the 
section north of Aleja Wielkopolska remained a sewered watercourse, devoid of charm. Although 
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the linden alley along the street has been partially preserved. Litewska, mentioned by Waldemar 
Karolczak (Karolczak 1993: 67), these trees suffer from many years of lack of care, which is difficult 
to repair despite recent attempts to tidy up the green areas in Soğacz. There was also no planned 
connection to ul. Litewska with Soğacza streets located north of the centrally located park.  

Until the end of the 1980s, despite the established importance of the district, no broader protective 
or even tidying up activities were undertaken. Only socio-economic changes and the restoration of 
the importance of private property (and respect for it) first prompted private entities to take ad-
vantage of the opportunity and locate selected entities, representing primarily freelance professions 
or people performing free professions, to move to a prestigious district and take up effort to change 
the quality of space. The slow process took three decades. Currently, Litewska Street retains the 
characteristics of the urban layout of the southern frontage in almost its original shape, although 
the buildings themselves have undergone modifications and even deeper transformations. The 
changes are visible in particular in buildings No. 3 (a very inappropriate choice of facade articula-
tion), No. 15 (not very successful decisions regarding the forms of window and door joinery) and 
No. 17 (a favorable example - the repaired facade, especially the advantageous removal of the 
post-war form of the roof over the entrance).  

People and place (subjective aspect) 

The history of the buildings at Litewska st., at numbers 4 and 5, is relatively well known. The initia-
tor of the construction was Nikodem Pajzderski from śrem, an art historian with a doctoral degree 
from the Jagiellonian University, originally the curator of the Princes Czartoryski Museum in 
Goğuch·w, the author of a guide to the resources of this institution, later the conservator of monu-
ments of the PoznaŒ Voivodeship (since 1919) and the Pomeranian Voivodeship (since 1923), 
curator of state collections, supervised the creation of the Museum of Ecclesiastical Art and co-
organized the section presenting the collection of art exhibited in today's Collegium Anatomicum at 
PeWuCe in 1929. Finally, in 1933, he took up the position of director of the Greater Poland Muse-
um, run in today's branch of the National Museum (cf. Toğysz 2019). He had a passion for architec-
ture, which he did not complete in Charlottenburg, Berlin, at the local technical university. As 
a result, he became involved in various architectural projects or at the interface of architecture, 
either as an opinion-maker, an inspirer, or even an author of concepts or solutions (he developed 
one of the designs of the Industrial House at Plac WolnoŜci in PoznaŒ, and he may also have au-
thored the design of both houses at nos 4 and 5, Litewska st., more on that later). He held the posi-
tion of director of the Greater Poland Museum until the outbreak of World War II, and he worked 
despite the German occupation until he was arrested, because from there he was taken by the 
Germans (already in October 1939) to Fort VII and executed as part of the planned elimination of 
the Polish intelligentsia by the occupier (in January 1940). 

Nikodem's life partner, and from 1932 also wife, was Kazimiera Pajzderska n®e Heller, 
MağaczyŒska after her first husband. Kazimiera was a valued sculptor and painter, educated in Lviv 
and later in Paris, among others, with £mile Antoine Bourdell at the Acad®mie de la Grande 
Chaumi¯re (Bobrowska 2012: 16). The relationship with Nicodemus was a burden for some time, 
because although the divorce from her first husband was finalized in 1913, it took almost 20 years 
to get the new relationship sanctioned by the Church. Kazimiera was creatively active, she drew, 
sculpted, taught, and was involved in the work of the Society of Fine Arts. She made sculptures on 
the northern facade of the Monument to the Sacred Heart of Jesus in PoznaŒ, also known as the 
Monument of Gratitude, later destroyed by the German occupier. She also designed and imple-
mented many monuments to the Greater Poland insurgents. After the war, she tried to be creatively 
active, despite the constant feeling of irreparable loss of her husband. The more famous works 
include bas-reliefs by Mickiewicz and Pushkin, as well as a plaque dedicated to the love of her life - 
Nikodem - exhibited in the National Museum. 
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Fig. 6. Dr Nikodem Pajzderski, PoznaŒ, WW I years? 
(source: codziennypoznan.pl). 

Ryc. 6. Dr Nikodem Pajzderski, PoznaŒ, lata I wojny 
Ŝwiatowej? (Ŧr·dğo: codziennypoznan.pl). 

Fig. 7. Dr Nikodem Pajzderski, PoznaŒ, 1920s. (so-
urce: codziennypoznan.pl). 

Ryc. 7. Dr Nikodem Pajzderski, PoznaŒ, lata 20. 
(Ŧr·dğo: codziennypoznan.pl). 

 

   

Fig. 8. Opening of the 20th exhibi-
tion of Grupa Artyst·w Wielkopol-
skich "Plastyka" works in the Towa-
rzystwo Przyjaci·ğ Sztuk Piňknych in 
PoznaŒ seat, dr Nikodem Pajzderski 
seventh from the left (back row), 
PoznaŒ 1933 (source NAC). 

Ryc. 8. Otwarcie 20 wystawy prac 
Grupy Artyst·w Wielkopolskich 
"Plastyka" w Towarzystwie Przyja-
ci·ğ Sztuk Piňknych w Poznaniu, dr 
Nikodem Pajzderski si·dmy z lewej 
(z tyğu), PoznaŒ 1933 rok (Ŧr·dğo 
NAC). 

Fig. 9. Visiting the exhibition ĂGothic art. in 
Great Polandò, dr Nikodem Pajzderski 
standing turned back at the right, PoznaŒ 
1936 (source: ŧarczyŒska 2023). 

Ryc. 9. Zwiedzanie wystawy ĂWielkopolska 
sztuka gotyckaò, z prawej, tyğem, dr Niko-
dem Pajzderski, PoznaŒ 1936 rok (Ŧr·dğo: 
ŧarczyŒska 2023). 

Fig. 10. The exhibition of works by 
Jan Hrynkowski, painter, in Salon 35 
in PoznaŒ, Nikodem Pajzderski to 
the left, 1939 (source: NAC). 

Ryc. 10. Wystawa obraz·w artysty 
malarza Jana Hrynkowskiego w 
poznaŒskim Salonie 35, z lewej 
Nikodem Pajzderski, 1939 rok (Ŧr·-
dğo: NAC). 

 

 

Fig. 11. Portrait of Kazimiera Pajzderska by Tadeusz Pruszkow-
ski, 1922, National Museum in Warsaw collection (source: Wik-
ipedia). 

Ryc. 11. Portret Kazimiery Pajzderskiej wykonany w 1922 roku 
przez Tadeusza Pruszkowskiego, zbiory Muzeum Narodowego 
w Warszawie (Ŧr·dğo: Wikipedia). 
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Fig. 12. Medal Powszechnej Wystawy Krajowej z 1929 roku, aut. Kazimiera Pajzderska (Ŧr·dğo: wcn.pl). 

Ryc. 12. Medal Powszechnej Wystawy Krajowej z 1929 roku, aut. Kazimiera Pajzderska (Ŧr·dğo: wcn.pl). 

 

 

Fig. 13. Boats, by Kazimiera Pajzderska (source: sda.pl). 

Ryc. 13. Ğodzie, aut. Kazimiera Pajzderska (Ŧr·dğo: sda.pl). 
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Kazimiera and Nikodem had two daughters, Krystyna (1912) and Katarzyna (1914), two years 
younger than her. Krystyna chose a career path analogous to that of her mother, Katarzyna fol-
lowed in her father's footsteps. The villa at ul. was intended for the elder daughter. Litewska 4 and 
there she lived with her husband, Baron Jan Powidzki, married in 1933 (Korduba 2012: 88). This 
union produced two children, Teresa and Krzysztof. The couple (Jan and Krystyna), separated by 
the war, returned to Soğacz in the winter of 1945 after many adventures, finding the house at num-
ber 4 plundered and empty, as was the case at number 5. They did not stay in PoznaŒ for long and 
left for the regained territories, to Koszalin, and later Szczecin, where unfortunately Jan died (in 
1950). This prompted Krystyna, often called Tita, to return to PoznaŒ and, despite finding new ten-
ants, she managed to regain the ground floor for her own needs. Krystyna's second husband was 
Edward Niklewicz, with whom she had a son, Piotr (Korduba 2012: 89). Neither Edward nor Tita 
had it easy and faced various difficulties, including administrative ones related to their noble ori-
gins. Ultimately, life in the city left its mark on them and in the autumn of her life Tita returned to her 
beloved countryside, choosing a modest house in Krajk·w, in the Mosina commune (Biuletyn 
MosiŒski 1995: A-B). She died in 1999.  

In the house at 5 Litewska st. was inhabited by parents and their younger daughter in 1938. The 
parents assumed that eventually the building at 5 Litewska st. will go to the younger daughter. Pa-
rental care was expressed in the almost identical form of both villas. They differ only in nuances, 
which arose in the post-war period. The post-war use of both houses was not easy, because prop-
erty rights were severely limited, and housing laws forced tolerance of people who acquired the 
right to live in them through an arbitrary administrative decision, disregarding the assets of the for-
mer owners. Yet both Kazimiera and her daughters were certainly victims of the war, they lost their 
father and a significant part of their property, they returned to a deserted house, robbed of furniture 
and other valuable elements of furnishings, only to experience the consequences of the rule of the 
people's authorities. However, thanks to Jan Powidzki's resourcefulness, they managed to regain 
the apartment on the first floor, where Katarzyna and her children, Mikoğaj and Kinga, lived with 
their mother Kazimiera. Kazimiera died in this house in 1959, and six years later Katarzyna moved 
to the capital, selling the apartment (Korduba 2012: 96-97). 

The construction of buildings and the evolution of their forms over time  
(architectural aspect) 

Original development ï 1938-1939 

Both residential buildings are located at 4 and 5 Litewska st. in PoznaŒ were built almost just be-
fore the outbreak of World War II. They were built in the southern frontage of the street, in the quar-
ter stretching from Litewska Street to Grudzieniec Street, creating one of many components of the 
first row of residential buildings that were to form the southern part of the urban layout of Soğacz on 
the western side of Nad Wierzbakiem Street. The designs for both villas were most likely prepared 
in 1938, because the buildings were built in parallel, and the documentation for the villa at 5 
Litewska Street allowed the date of approval of this design to be set on September 1, 1938. During 
the research, it was possible to find documentation for villa no. 5, but there were no materials for 
the neighboring villa, hence the description will mainly concern the first one. Some design modifica-
tions were apparently made, as handwritten annotations suggest that another iteration of the de-
sign was approved on June 23, 1939. It is impossible to say whether it is a note from the designer, 
the engineer supervising the works and authorized to modify design solutions, or perhaps an offi-
cial. The words "amendment" can be read from the entry, "compliant of [illegible] 23 June 39, [illeg-
ible signature]ò. Without having the full original, it is impossible to determine the authorship of the 
design, however, speculating and attempting to read the designer's signature under the roof projec-
tion, one can risk that it is probably the authorship of Sylwester Pajzderski, an architect born in 
śrem, who worked for many years in Kalisz, Ostr·w, but also in PoznaŒ (Ğoza 1954: 225). This is 
indeed speculation, but it is justified and confirmed by several independent sources. This designer 
liked the style represented by Soğacki villas, and in addition to outdoor swimming pools, he also 
designed other buildings and structures in PoznaŒ. Moreover, at the end of the 1920s, he was the 
head of the City Development Department and the author of the first interwar concept of a plan for 
the entire PoznaŒ, presented in 1929 (Kodym-Kozaczko and Kozaczko 2007: 105-106). It must be 
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admitted, however, that the pretext for this speculation is the above-mentioned signature, which 
may also mean a different course of events. It is possible that the author of the designs for both 
buildings was the initiator of the construction, Nikodem Pajzderski, who lived at this address for 
a short time (Korduba 2012: 95). His signature was either he, if a blind eye was turned due to his 
position as director of the Greater Poland Museum, or Sylwester, to authorize the ideas of his 
brother, who was not a licensed architect. Both buildings were a fairly standard solution, each 
shaped on an almost square plan. 

The building was designed with a harmoniously shaped, semi-open southern frontage in mind, so 
in this respect it did not differ from the neighboring buildings and had three above-ground floors, as 
well as, additionally, one underground floor, in fact a basement, exposed above the ground. The 
intention included the above-mentioned basement sunk only half of its height into the ground, 
a ground floor accessible via several steps, an upper floor, and an attic capable of adaptation and 
adapted to serve as a usable space. The building was covered with a hipped roof with symmetrical 
roof surfaces and a very short ridge. The basic angle of the roof slope was to be approximately 40Á. 
There is one large dormer in the roof, covered with a three-slope roof with an angle of slope identi-
cal to the angle of the main slopes. The vertical walls of the dormer were made using the frame 
technique.  

The structure of the building was traditional, with brick walls dominating. Today it is impossible to 
clearly determine whether the foundations were made of brick or concrete, which was commonly 
used in the 1930s. Nevertheless, the load-bearing walls were made of solid brick and the ceilings 
were mainly wooden. Quite simple, solid and made of good wood, the truss has a two-story struc-
ture with struts, while the ends of the rafters are equipped with trapdoors, emphasizing the small 
eaves surrounding the building. The roof is planned to be covered with ceramic tiles. The facades 
were finished with mineral plaster, with the plinth highlighted. In the original documentation, the 
plinth was sawn, which perhaps suggests a ceramic finish, but the original intentions were blurred 
by later changes. The window joinery, which was not particularly distinctive, was characterized by 
simple divisions, a certain specificity was the window in the upper section of the staircase, strongly 
vertical, with multiple divisions with mullions, placed in a panel, the lower part of which was closed 
by a smaller window illuminating the basement part of the staircase, covered with a decorative 
grille. 

The plan and spatial arrangement reflect the spirit of the interwar era. The presence of an elevator 
in the original design connecting the kitchen on the ground floor with the basement indicates the 
purpose of the basement as a space separated for staff servicing the main users of the building 
(e.g. servants who could, according to the designer's intentions, also live in this building). The en-
trance from the staircase on the ground floor (described in the original documentation as the 
ground floor) leads to the hall. The hall on the left side (after entering it from the staircase) has 
a sanitary and hygiene block with a vestibule, toilet and bathroom. From the south, the door was to 
lead through a small corridor to the kitchen and a storage room connected to the pantry. The sec-
ond half of the ground floor was occupied by two rooms of very comfortable dimensions. It is possi-
ble that the intended users of the building at No. 5 were not entirely satisfied with such a proposal, 
because the documentation contains various annotations, in particular a record about the liquida-
tion of the kitchen, storage room and pantry in favor of a "cupboard", connected to the basement by 
an elevator. It would be interesting to compare data between villas, but unfortunately, for no. 1946. 
The presence of a cupboard in villa no. 5, as well as the expected construction of an elevator con-
necting the ground floor with the basement, clearly functionally connects both levels, making the 
basement a supplementary space for servants. Judging by the status of the tenants of house no. 4, 
it was possible this idea was replicated originally in the twin building.  

On the first floor, the arrangement of rooms is similar. The entrance from the staircase leads to the 
hall, from which you can go further to two rooms located in the western part of the building, while 
on the eastern side there is first a toilet and a bathroom, and then a kitchen with a storage room 
and a pantry. The available archival documentation clearly indicates modifications to this system 
involving the elimination of excessive surface fragmentation. Between September 1938 and June 
1939, a decision was made to open the entire space closed on three sides by load-bearing walls, 
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creating a room with a kitchenette. From the staircase, straight ahead, there is a technical, narrow 
and steep entrance to the attic. There was a hall in the basement and entrances from it led to three 
unlabeled spaces and a laundry room in the south-east corner of the building. This is where anno-
tations come in. A kitchen will be built in place of the laundry room, allowing access to the ground 
floor via an elevator. On the eastern wall there is a smaller laundry room, but also a small hygiene 
and sanitary room. A garage, which is not very practical, was proposed in the southwest corner of 
the building, and a technical and utility space was suggested in the northwest corner. The suitability 
of the attic for any purpose is limited by the steepness and inconvenience of using the staircase, as 
well as the lack of adaptation to living conditions. 

 

 

 

Fig. 14. Excerpt from original project for bldg. no 
5, dated on September 1st, 1938, with signature 
ĂPajzderskiò (source: owner of the house). 

Ryc. 14. WyjŃtek z pierwotnej dokumentacji 
budynku nr 5, datowany na 1 wrzeŜnia 1938 
roku, z podpisem ĂPajzderskiò (Ŧr·dğo: wğaŜciciel 
posesji). 

 
 
When developing the plot, it is necessary to notice the retaining wall built on the border with the 
property at ul. Litewska 6, first with a gradually sloping foundation (from the street) up to the base-
ment level and a double-leaf gate opening in the western wall of the building. An additional retain-
ing wall was built perpendicularly towards the building, preparing a recess for access to the base-
ment. An inspection well is also located in this area. 

Documentation from 1970s. (?) 

Most likely in the 1970s, the building was rebuilt and expanded in the basement and on the ground 
floor to provide additional space. The lack of dating on the documentation forces us to speculate 
about the time when the documentation from this stage was created. It should be noted that it may 
come from the 1980s, although probably not from the 1960s. Such conclusions can be drawn from 
the technique of preparing the documentation, as well as from the way it was recorded, framed and 
described. At that time, the attic was also adapted for utility purposes, despite the obvious difficul-
ties associated with the over 40Á inclination of the stairs. The structural system of the building has 
not changed, the load-bearing walls remain the same as in the original design. In some places, the 
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load-bearing wall was knocked out and beams were installed - this was done on the ground floor 
between the room in the south-east corner of the building and the kitchen, arranged in the form of 
an annex, closing the direct exit to the corridor. The bathroom was made smaller and merged with 
the toilet. The rooms on the ground floor remained unchanged, but on the south side a built-in ve-
randa was added in the western part of the southern fa­ade. The exit from the veranda led to the 
side, to a small landing, from which you could go down stairs to the garden. On the first floor, the 
spatial layout duplicated the layout on the ground floor, with the difference that the kitchen was 
slightly larger, but with access to the corridor. The bathroom also eliminated the vestibule and was 
connected to the toilet (although with a loss of space). In the attic, frame walls were placed on 
a wooden structure, thus creating an irregularly shaped room, although with orthogonal walls, pre-
ceded by a vestibule. The stairs were temporarily extended by one step to level the floor, the top 
layer of which was placed above the ceiling purlins. The rooms in the basement were adapted to 
more modern technical equipment - a boiler room was created, using nearby chimney flues (it is 
impossible to say when central heating replaced the tiled stoves shown in the original documenta-
tion). Three relatively large rooms were adapted for storage, and it was also suggested to connect 
the basement and the ground floor independently of the staircase using a narrow staircase. The 
intention to use it as a non-functional garage (the entrance to which would be at a right angle to the 
axis of the passage) was also abandoned, although the opening remained closed with a double-
leaf gate. The veranda on the ground floor was based on walls that were sunk into the ground to 
create an additional annex - a utility space in the basement on the same level as the other rooms in 
the basement. The roof of the building has not changed. It was also not insulated in any way at that 
time.  

The construction inventory documenting the described condition was most likely made with the 
intention of noting a modification regarding the discharge of the sanitary sewage system to a man-
hole constructed outside the building's outline. 

Documentation from early 1990s. 

At the end of the 1980s, there were ownership changes to the property at 5 Litewska st., which 
resulted in changes adapting the facility to the needs of new users. It is known that this did not 
happen before 1986, because a copy of the basic map from June 1986 shows an unchanged group 
of owners. The basic and most visible added element was the garage, constructed using an eco-
nomic system, for which design documentation was prepared at the turn of the 1980s and 1990s. 
The design documentation, or rather the inspection and inventory documentation, was prepared by 
Eng. Jacek Soğgağa 

Technical drawings were made on the basis of previous inventory documentation (probably from 
the 1970s). Retaining walls were used to support the garage roof. The garage was built with 
a height of 250 cm to 285 cm (in the room). The floor on the ground, including the inspection hole 
to the original, former well, was made at the same level as the basement floor under the residential 
building. The completed modification consisted of creating a garage on the side of property no. 6 
and an accompanying corridor along the residential building, deep into the plot. The corridor creat-
ed a passage from the front of the plot to the garden, while the garage closed the existing open 
passage to the rear of the plot. Load-bearing walls parallel to the street were built. Litewska, on 
which steel lintels were based, and a slightly inclined Fert high-ribbed ceiling was made over the 
entire garage. The entrances to the corridor have gained arched closures from above. It is also 
worth noting that the corridor was led behind the southern face of the garage, creating an extension 
there, a kind of vestibule, behind the door of which there was a landing and stairs leading to the 
garden. The remaining elements remained unchanged at that time. 

A minor change in villa no. 5 from the end of the 20th century  
and a change in the use of the basement 

In 1999, the basement rooms were transformed into a doctor's office. The layout of the rooms was 
slightly modified, the most significant changes concerned the transformation of storage rooms into 
rooms used for medical practice and patient service, so the finishing standards were raised. 
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A bathroom was created, as well as a cleanliness room, which was also intended to serve as 
a dirty room (described as the "cleaning lady's room"). 

 

  

Fig. 15. Rear (garden) fa­ade of building no 5, Litewska 
st., PoznaŒ. Source: by author 

Ryc. 15. Elewacja ogrodowa budynku nr 5 przy ul. Litew-
skiej w Poznaniu. ťr·dğo: autor 

Fig. 16. Side fa­ade of building no 4, Litewska st., Poz-
naŒ. Source: by author 

Ryc. 16. Elewacja boczna budynku nr 4 przy ul. Litewskiej 
w Poznaniu. ťr·dğo: autor 

 

 

 

Fig. 17. Villas no 4 (to the left) and no 5 (center), Litewska st., PoznaŒ (source: autor). 

Ryc. 17. Wille nr 4 (po lewej) i nr 5 (w centrum) przy ul. Litewskiej w Poznaniu (Ŧr·dğo: autor). 


